

Gut rest strategy and nutritional support in the acute phase of critical illness

Abstract In critically ill patients, the intestine is a vulnerable organ and gastrointestinal (GI) dysfunction is common. Although guidelines recommend the use of enteral nutrition (EN) within 24–48 hours in the critically ill patient who needs nutritional support, this may be contraindicated in patients with acute gastrointestinal injury (AGI), as overuse of the gut in the acute phase of critical illness may be harmful to prognosis. While some evidence suggests that EN may favorably impact outcomes in critically ill patients~~There is a contradiction with injury-GI and utilization of GI, which's form is mainly enteral nutrition (EN). EN has a positive role which can provides trophic effects to maintain intestinal physiology, we propose~~ early and restrictive EN should be ~~performed~~provided to critically ill patients, especially those with AGI, as an organ protective strategy.

批注 [JK1]: Throughout: please confirm that my interpretation of your text conveys your intended message.

Do you wish to focus on the Chinese population to increase the novelty of your review – if so you will need to expand your search to literature published in the Chinese language and only studies conducted in Chinese populations should be included – this may limit the generalizability of your review

~~In critically ill patients, the~~In critically ill patients the intestine is susceptible to injury, and acute gastrointestinal (AGI) dysfunction is common^[1]. Evidence suggests that an estimated 50% of patients have enterocyte damage at admission to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU), and gastrointestinal symptoms occur in approximately 62% of patients in the ICU ^[2]. The Working Group on Abdominal Problems (WGAP) of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) identified four grades of AGI severity in intensive care patients: AGI grade I (risk of developing gastrointestinal dysfunction or failure), in which gastrointestinal symptoms occur after an insult; AGI grade II (gastrointestinal dysfunction), in which interventions are required to restore gastrointestinal function after acute occurrence of gastrointestinal symptoms; AGI grade III (gastrointestinal failure), in which interventions cannot restore gastrointestinal function; and AGI grade IV (gastrointestinal failure with severe impact on distant organ function), in which gastrointestinal failure is immediately life-threatening.

~~. In fact, an estimated 50% of patients have enterocyte damage at admission to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU)~~^[2]. In contrast, gastrointestinal dysfunction can indicate a critical condition. Patients with gastrointestinal dysfunction have higher mortality rates^[3-5]. One of

functions on As the GI gastrointestinal tract is functions to ingest, digest, and absorb nutrients from food and water digesting and absorbing nutrients and water, disorders of which would be main manifestation while GI was injury name acute gastrotintestinal injury (AGI), AGI manifests as nausea and/or vomiting, absence of bowel sounds, diminished bowel motility, gastroparesis with high gastric residuals or reflux, paralysis of the lower gastrointestinal tract, diarrhea, intra-abdominal hypertension grade I (12–15 mmHg), and gastrointestinal bleeding, which shows mainly feeding intolerance in critically ill patients^[6] and critically ill patients with AGI have higher mortality rates than those without AGI^[3-5]. Although guidelines recommend early But in critically ill patients, the guideline recommend that enteral nutrition (EN) started within 24 – 48 hours of admission and is the preferred route of feeding over parenteral nutrition (PN) for the critically ill patient who requires nutrition support therapy, and enteral feeding should be started early within the first 24–48 hours following admission; the feedings should be advanced toward goal optimal nutritional goals over the next 48 –72 hours for nutritional support in critically ill patients^[7]. Some, some questions emerge remain: 1) whether does Does the gastrointestinal tract need ‘rest’ –injury for recovery of gastrointestinal function in critically ill patients with –gut need be rest for recovery function when AGI is present? and 2) Is EN applicable in critically ill patients with gastrointestinal dysfunction - will they derive benefit from Patients could benefit from utilization using the of injury-injured organ or enteral nutrition is applicable to patients with impaired gut? This review would The answers to these questions will be try to explored in this review the answer and rationale.

Gastrointestinal dysfunction in critical ill patients

The main function of the gastrointestinal tract is digesting and absorbing nutrients and water to meet the daily nutritional needs required for human survival. The gastrointestinal tract also performs excretory, immune, endocrine, and barrier functions. The main function of GI tract is digesting and absorbing nutrients and water to meet the needs of “food” for survival as most animals and human being. Other function is including barrier control to modulate absorption of intraluminal microbes (and their products), endocrine and immune functions.

when GI was Injury to the gastrointestinal tract results in improper injury and dysfunction, manifestations were digestion and absorption dysfunction^[6], impairment of the intestinal barrier function impairment^[8], and dysregulation of the intestinal microbiota dysregulation^[9]. In critically ill patients, the symptom profile of improper digestion and absorption Digestion and absorption dysfunction was shown withis characterized by temporary self limiting gastrointestinal symptoms, which progress to –feeding intolerance syndrome as gastrointestinal dysfunction becomes more severe, including:in which patients are intolerant of EN and ≥ 20 kcal/kg BW/day cannot be reached within 72 h of feeding attempts via the enteral route – gastroesophageal reflux, intolerance to nasogastric feeding, slow gastric emptying, small intestinal dysmotility, and GI bleeding in critically illness^[11], which were main target that was used to evaluate acute GI dysfunction or AGI^[6]. Small intestinal mucosal integrity may also be impaired in critically ill patients, leading to increased intestinal permeability, especially in patients intolerant to EN

设置了格式: 字体: 非加粗

设置了格式: 字体: 非加粗

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

Another considering aspect was increased gut permeability while AGI, intestinal permeability was increased in the critically ill patients, especially in those intolerant to gastric feeding, and increased permeability may be part of the gastrointestinal dysfunction [10]. The dysbiosis of Furthermore, critical illness alters the gut microbiota, whereby the gut microbiota of critically ill patients is gut microbiota characterized by low diversity, low abundance of key commensal genera, and overgrowth of one bacterial genera. This dysbiosis of the gut microbiota may be associated with in critical ill patients is associated with organ dysfunction [11], which should be as part of evaluating and may be a useful marker of gastrointestinal function in critically ill patients-GI function in future.

Fig.1 Acute gastrointestinal dysfunction in critically ill patients

Adaptive metabolism in the acute phase of critical illness

Facing disease, Pathophysiological changes during illness cause the body to compensate in an attempt to restore stability within the internal environment-body can try to compensate abnormal pathophysiologic changes and keep homeostasis. The metabolic response to stress is part of the adaptive response to survive acute illness [12]. Three phases of the metabolic response were described: the acute phase of critical illness has been variously (defined as the first hours after the onset of illness, to the first few days after the onset of illness, or the first 5-7 days after admittance-admission to the ICU was used in recent clinical trials [13-15].); The adaptive response to acute critical illness includes a metabolic response to stress [12]the metabolic

设置了格式: 字体: 非加粗

~~response to, which stress implies involves neuroendocrine and inflammatory/immune mechanisms that cause uncontrolled catabolism and the development of a resistance to anabolic signals, including insulin, in order to reset the hierarchy of the delivery of energy substrates to. This prioritizes the delivery of glucose to the vital organs that are unable to use other substrates as energy vital tissues over the insulin-dependent organs, mainly fat and muscle [16, 17]. These changes~~ These adaptive changes are complex and sequential, which has so far prohibited the successful development of targeted interventions to modulate the metabolic response to critical illness: ~~are hardly amenable to any fruitful intervention, and therapeutic interventions need to account for the complexity and sequential patterns of the metabolic response to critical illness [17].~~

Enteral nutrition in the acute phase of critical illness

~~It is necessary to get~~ Sufficient and appropriate nutrition is essential to sustain the nutrition for body's metabolism ~~which is essential condition to the living being. And, such that malnutrition increases is associated with high morbidity and mortality in the intensive care unit (ICU) [18]. Evidence suggests that EN is~~ Enteral nutrition (EN) therapy has been shown to be beneficial to critically ill patients, ~~as it may reduce in terms of reducing disease severity, diminishing diminish infectious complications, and decreaseddecreasing length of stay in the ICU, and favorably impacting patient outcomes [19, 20]. However, as due to complicated metabolic changes~~ the metabolic response to critical illness is complex, there is a high incidence of AGI and

high proportion of GI injury in the acute phase of critical illness [2]. Furthermore, as ~~and a~~ anorexia ~~is part of the~~ is a component of the acute physiologic response to severe illness ~~that can~~ be either adaptive or maladaptive [21], it is uncertain when and how much EN should be ~~perform-~~ provided in the acute phase of critical illness ~~at this time~~.

In ~~a~~ large, retrospective, cohort study ~~found the~~ showed that the initiation of enteral nutrition EN within 48 hours of mechanical ventilation ~~was associated with reduced rates of~~ hospital mortality in critically ill hemodynamically unstable patients ~~was associated with a~~ reduction in the rates of hospital mortality of critically ill hemodynamically unstable patients ~~treated with mechanical ventilation~~ [22]. Several meta-analyses ~~A meta-analysis aggregated data of~~ data extracted from ~~from~~ RCTs randomized controlled trials (RCTs) showed early EN was associated with a significant reduction in mortality and infectious morbidity ~~in critically ill~~ patients in the ICU [23]. ~~But some~~ In contrast, one RCT ~~showed trials showed~~ early EN within 24 hours of admission in ICU patients was not associated ~~with with a~~ reduction in hospital discharge mortality, even ~~or with adverse clinical outcomes~~. A trial found early feeding and greater nutritional adequacy did not improve clinical outcomes in mixed patients in ICUs ~~mortality or~~ hospital or ICU length of stay ~~–~~ [24], while another RCT demonstrated no difference in 30-day mortality or rates of adverse events in patients that received parenteral or EN. ~~Another trial~~ found within 36 hours ~~after a of an~~ unplanned admission to ~~the~~ ICU and continued for up to 5 days, either the parenteral or the enteral nutrition was no significantly differently in 30-day mortality and other adverse events [14]. In conclusion, ~~no enough~~ Taken together, these findings

indicate that there is not enough data to determine the superiority of early EN vs. delayed EN or parenteral nutrition for critically ill patients. However, the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) and American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (A.S.P.E.N.) 2016 guideline and the Working Group on Gastrointestinal Function within the Metabolism, Endocrinology and Nutrition (MEN) Section of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) 2017 guideline recommend the use of EN within 24–48 hours in the critically ill patient who needs nutritional support vs. delaying EN or the use of early parenteral nutrition, as there may be a beneficial effect on considering potential benefit on mortality, and a reduced reduction in infection-infectious complications, easy operation and decreased efficiency, new guidelines recommend that early EN be initiated within 24–48 hours in the critically ill patient who needs nutrition support therapy rather than delaying EN or early PN [23, 25].

设置了格式：字体：非加粗

设置了格式：字体：非加粗

Another problem is the dose of EN, which is complicated focus in the acute phase of critical illness. Dosing of EN in the ICU is complicated by a patient's nutrition risk, baseline nutrition status, and disease severity. One The single randomized, controlled trial (RCT) in critically ill patients showed permissive underfeeding in the first 7-days of an ICU stay may be associated with lower hospital mortality rates than target feeding in critically ill patients [26]. Two randomized, controlled trials RCTs that evaluated initial minimal or trophic feeding tropic EN with about approximately 400 kcal per day (for up to 5 or 6 days after admission to the ICU) vs. full EN with approximately 1300 kcal per day over the first week of admission in patients with

设置了格式：字体：加粗

acute lung injury or acute respiratory failure, compared with the full-feeding group with about 1300 kcal per day, showed initial trophic enteral nutrition resulted in similar clinical outcomes, but to those of early full-energy enteral nutrition but with fewer episodes of gastrointestinal intolerance with initial trophic EN [15, 27]. Then Subsequently, a multicenter, large multicentre RCT was performed for to evaluating-evaluate the effect of 2 weeks of permissive underfeeding, defined as 40 to 60% of calculated caloric requirements vs. standard EN, defined as 70 to 100% of calculated caloric requirements, on mortality compared with standard enteral feeding during 2 weeks in critically ill patients after surgical, medical, or trauma admission to the including ICU surgical, medical and trauma admission who were fed enterally within 48 hours after ICU admission [28], [28]. Protein intake was similar in the two groups, but the permissive underfeeding group received less nonprotein calories than the standard EN group. The result showed Findings showed that receiving less nonprotein calories in the permissive underfeeding group was not associated with lower mortality than planned delivery of a compared to receiving a full amount of nonprotein calories in the standard EN group (kilocalories (mean \pm SD): 835 \pm 297 vs 1299 \pm 467), but associated with lower blood glucose levels and, reduced insulin requirements, need for renal-replacement therapy, and low-daily fluid balance were lower in the permissive underfeeding group and low incidence of renal placement therapy [28]. In conclusion These data suggest that, permissive underfeeding may be applicable in the acute phase of critical illness, although which is not applicable to except in patients who are at high nutrition

risk (e.g., Nutritional Risk Screening [NRS] 2002 ≥ 5 [29] or Nutrition Risk in the Critically Ill [NUTRIC] score ≥ 5 [19], without interleukin 6) or who are severely malnourished [23].

Gut rest strategy and enteral nutrition

Gastrointestinal blood flow is reduced in ~~patients in critical illnesses~~critically ill patients despite fluid replacement and ~~interventions to normalize~~normalization of blood pressure and cardiac output. This reduction in blood flow is associated with ischemic injury, bacterial translocation, and multiple organ failure^[30]. ~~Studies in dogs showed that, the study in animal found~~ enteral nutrients ~~could~~can increase blood flow to the gastrointestinal tract, a phenomenon referred to as ~~the~~ “postprandial hyperemic response”, ~~This may~~ preserve gut integrity and prevent gut-derived complications [31, 32]. ~~So enteral nutrients~~ Other evidence suggests that EN has ~~provide~~ trophic effects ~~to that~~ maintain intestinal physiology, prevent ~~atrophy of gut villi~~atrophyvilli, ~~decrease~~reduce intestinal permeability, ~~stimulate intestinal perfusion to~~ protect against ischemia- reperfusion injury ~~by stimulating intestinal perfusion, and, and that EN~~ preserves gut immunity ~~through their effects on the~~by affecting gut-associated lymphoid tissue^[33].

~~Although it is possible of~~Although some reports indicate that EN support ~~to restore of~~may restore gastrointestinal function in critically ill patients, ~~GI function, few studies~~studies investigating the influence of AGI on the prognosis of critically ill patients provided EN and the effect of ~~about nutrition support considered influence of AGI on prognosis and evaluated the~~

role of EN on AGI in critically ill patients are scarce. So it is unclear how to perform, and there are no guidelines for the provision of EN with to patients with AGI, but. Theoretically, it seems reasonable to suggest that excessive use of injury GI tract of an injured gastrointestinal tract may be not applicable in theory, "going too far is as bad as not going far enough have deleterious effects". The Accordingly, one study found that the high frequency of enteral nutrition EN-related gastrointestinal complications in critically ill patients, among which of which high gastric residuals was the most frequent common, in critically ill patients is high, and enteral feeding gastrointestinal intolerance to EN seems seemed to have an evolutive effect in prolonging the ICU stay and increasing increase mortality [34]. Early In other studies, there was an association between early nutrition and nutrition or enteral feeding EN were associated with and increased ventilation-ventilator-associated pneumonia in patients with invasive mechanical ventilation and shock [35], and EN resulted in Another study also found when upper GI digestive intolerance occurred, which was associated with nosocomial pneumonia, a prolonged ICU stay, and a high ICU mortality in critically ill patients there was a significantly higher occurrence of pneumonia longer ICU stay and higher ICU mortality [36]. And Furthermore, overfeeding in critically ill patients may be associated with hypercapnia, increased risk of infection, metabolic disturbances such as hyperglycaemia, liver dysfunction, and extended time on mechanical ventilation [12, 37], and. And in non-septic critically ill patients, early energy overfeeding was associated with higher mortality in non-septic critically ill patients [38].

批注 [JK2]: Do you want to mention Zhang et al (Ann Transl Med) and/or Li et al PLoS One. 2017 Aug 3;12(8):e0182393. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182393 here - they stratified patients by severity of AGI but used different EN protocols. AGI or ILL was not an independent predictor of 28 day mortality in these patients

In critically ill patients, when severe injury occurs, therapeutic approaches must focus on the insult pathology itself (e.g., trauma, necrotic, or infected tissue), thereby interrupting the potentially fatal signaling cascade right at its root often allowing survival after a potentially lethal illness. While the adaptive metabolic response has evolved to be beneficial following minor trauma, it may become exaggerated and self-destructive causing secondary metabolic damage in patients surviving severe, potentially lethal conditions due to advances in modern medicine [39] and medical therapy should not be with progressive harm. Effective treatment must prevent this secondary metabolic damage; however, these interventions must not cause progressive harm. In critical care, studies found excessive use of evidence suggests that excessive use of an injured organ injury organ was associated with associated with poor prognosis. Restrictive therapy or protective therapy could protect the injured organ, which can not afford normal workloads, from progressive harm, at least no inferior liberal therapy with less cost, utilization of medical care, related complications. For example, in one study of patients with acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome, mechanical ventilation with a lower tidal volume than is traditionally used results in was associated with reduced mortality and increased the number of days without ventilator use decreased mortality [40]. Conservative In another study, a conservative strategy of fluid management in patients with acute lung injury improves improved lung function and shorten s the duration of mechanical ventilation in patients with acute lung injury [41]. Furthermore, a restrictive strategy of red-cell transfusion was shown to be at least as effective as and possibly

superior to a liberal transfusion strategy in critically ill patients^[43]. Conversely, the use of diuretics, which means which causes overuse of residual kidney function, in critically ill patients with acute renal failure was associated with an increased risk of death and nonrecovery of renal function in critically ill patients with acute renal failure^[42]. A restrictive strategy of red-cell transfusion is at least as effective as and possibly superior to a liberal transfusion strategy in critically ill patients^[43].

Fig.2 Protective or restrictive therapy in critically ill patients

In addition Similarly, overuse of the gut may be harmful to prognosis in the acute phase of critical illness. At least in the acute phase after a severe insult, an aggressive nutritional therapy (e.g., by guiding exogenous caloric support according to energy expenditure) may not only be without have beneficial effects. In fact this approach is potentially but may be even detrimental, as it may cause a by causing a metabolic overload and/or by suppressing the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and related autophagy, which are potentially important for cellular repair and organ recovery^[39, 44]. And a recent In support of this, a recent study has found study found that early isocaloric enteral nutrition-EN did not reduce mortality or the risk of secondary infection in critically ill adults with shock, but it was associated with a greater risk of digestive complications compared with early isocaloric parenteral nutrition in critically ill adults with shock^[45]. Efficacy of artificial nutritional support may increase and improve patient outcomes Only if the when the immunologic and inflammatory metabolic triggers associated with

设置了格式: 字体颜色: 自动设置

the adaptive metabolic response in the acute phase of critical illness have largely disappeared; efficacy of artificial nutritional support may increase thereby also improving outcome^[46].

Therefore, restrictive EN should be the optimal choice for critically ill patients with AGI, in theory, although no trials prove this hypothesis. As trophic feeds (usually defined as 10–20 mL/h or 10–20 kcal/h) are a protective strategy, reducing gut burden and maintaining intestinal physiology, they However, trophic feeds (usually defined as 10–20 mL/h or 10–20 kcal/h) may be sufficient to prevent mucosal atrophy and maintain gut integrity in critically ill patients without high at low nutrition risk (NUTRIC score ≥ 5) [23]. Trophic feeds would be protective strategy of gut, keeping both reducing gut burden and maintaining intestinal physiology, and this strategy may be more applicable to critically ill patients with AGI, which need to study in advance in future. To the authors' knowledge, there are no trials that prove this hypothesis; therefore, large scale studies are warranted to investigate this approach.

Conclusions

Injury to the gastrointestinal tract manifests as improper digestion and absorption, impairment of the intestinal barrier, and dysregulation of the intestinal microbiota. When GI was injury and dysfunction, manifestations were digestion and absorption dysfunction, intestinal barrier function impairment, and intestinal microbiota dysregulation. Early EN is believed to improve gastrointestinal function in critically ill patients. However, in the acute phase of

设置了格式：字体：非加粗

带格式的：缩进：首行缩进：2 字符

~~critical illness, we propose that, it is believed that early enteral nutrition could improve gastrointestinal function, but trophic feeding may be applicable the optimal strategy considering the adaptive metabolic response metabolism and acute gastrointestinal injury AGI in the acute phase of critical illness, and Trophic feeding may be one kind of an organ protective strategy in critically ill patients, similar to the use of such low tidal volume, restrictive fluid resuscitation, and restrictive transfusion, etc in critically ill patients.~~

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' details

Hongxiang Li produced the first draft of the manuscript. All authors critically revised the manuscript. All authors have seen and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- [1] Reintam A, Parm P, Kitus R, *et al.* Gastrointestinal symptoms in intensive care patients[J]. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, 2009, 53 (3): 318-324.
- [2] Piton G, Belon F, Cypriani B, *et al.* Enterocyte Damage in Critically Ill Patients Is Associated With Shock Condition and 28-Day Mortality*[J]. *Crit Care Med*, 2013, 41 (9): 2169-2176 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31828c26b5.
- [3] Reintam A, Parm P, Kitus R, *et al.* Gastrointestinal Failure score in critically ill patients: a prospective observational study[J]. *Critical care*, 2008, 12 (4): R90.
- [4] Reintam A, Parm P, Redlich U, *et al.* Gastrointestinal failure in intensive care: a retrospective clinical study in three different intensive care units in Germany and Estonia[J]. *BMC Gastroenterology*, 2006, 6 (1): 19.
- [5] Li H, Zhang D, Wang Y, *et al.* Association between acute gastrointestinal injury grading system and disease severity and prognosis in critically ill patients: A multicenter, prospective, observational study in China[J]. *J Crit Care*, 2016, 36 24-28.
- [6] Reintam Blaser A, Malbrain ML, Starkopf J, *et al.* Gastrointestinal function in intensive care patients: terminology, definitions and management. Recommendations of the ESICM Working Group on Abdominal Problems[J]. *Intensive Care Med*, Mar, 2012, 38 (3): 384-94.

- [7] Bistrian BR. Comment on "Guidelines for the provision and assessment of nutrition support therapy in the adult critically ill patient"[J]. *Jpen*, 2010, 34 (3): 350-352.
- [8] Li H,Chen Y,Huo F, *et al.* Association between acute gastrointestinal injury and biomarkers of intestinal barrier function in critically ill patients[J]. *Bmc Gastroenterology*, 2017, 17 (1): 45.
- [9] Lankelma JM, Van Vught LA,Belzer C, *et al.* Critically ill patients demonstrate large interpersonal variation in intestinal microbiota dysregulation: a pilot study[J]. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 2016, 43 (1): 59-68.
- [10] Burgstad CM,Besanko LK,Deane AM, *et al.* Sucrose malabsorption and impaired mucosal integrity in enterally fed critically ill patients: a prospective cohort observational study[J]. *Crit Care Med*, 2013, 41 (5): 1221.
- [11] Jacobs MC,Haak BW,Hugenholtz F, *et al.* Gut microbiota and host defense in critical illness[J]. *Current Opinion in Critical Care*, 2017, 23 (4): 257.
- [12] Preiser JC, Van Zanten AR,Berger MM, *et al.* Metabolic and nutritional support of critically ill patients: consensus and controversies[J]. *Critical care*, 2015, 19 (1): 35.
- [13] Casaer MP,Mesotten D,Hermans G, *et al.* Early versus Late Parenteral Nutrition in Critically Ill Adults[J]. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2011, 365 (6): 506-517.

- [14] Harvey SE, Parrott F, Harrison DA, *et al.* Trial of the Route of Early Nutritional Support in Critically Ill Adults[J]. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2014, 371 (18): 1673-1684.
- [15] The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Clinical Trials N. Initial trophic vs full enteral feeding in patients with acute lung injury: The EDEN randomized trial[J]. *JAMA*, 2012, 307 (8): 795-803.
- [16] Lena D, Kalfon P, Preiser JC, *et al.* Glycemic control in the intensive care unit and during the postoperative period[J]. *Anesthesiology*, 2011, 114 (2): 438.
- [17] Preiser JC, Ichai C, Orban JC, *et al.* Metabolic response to the stress of critical illness[J]. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 2014, 113 (6): 945-54.
- [18] Giner M, Laviano A, Meguid MM, *et al.* In 1995 a correlation between malnutrition and poor outcome in critically ill patients still exists[J]. *Nutrition*, 1996, 12 (1): 23-29.
- [19] Heyland DK, Stephens KE, Day AG, *et al.* The success of enteral nutrition and ICU-acquired infections: a multicenter observational study[J]. *Clinical Nutrition*, 2011, 30 (2): 148.

- [20] McClave SA, Taylor BE, Martindale RG, *et al.* Guidelines for the Provision and Assessment of Nutrition Support Therapy in the Adult Critically Ill Patient: Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) and American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (A.S.P.E.N.) [J]. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition*, 2016, 40 (2): 159-211.
- [21] Casaer MP, Van Den Berghe G. Nutrition in the Acute Phase of Critical Illness [J]. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2014, 370 (13): 1227-1236.
- [22] Khalid I, Doshi P, Digiovine B. Early enteral nutrition and outcomes of critically ill patients treated with vasopressors and mechanical ventilation [J]. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 2010, 19 (3): 261-8.
- [23] McClave S, Taylor B, Martindale R. Guidelines for the provision and assessment of nutrition support therapy in the adult critically ill patient: society of critical care medicine (SCCM) and American society for parenteral and enteral nutrition (A.S.P.E.N.) [J]. *J Parenter Enteral Nutr*, 2016, 40.
- [24] Doig GS, Simpson F, Finfer S, *et al.* Effect of evidence-based feeding guidelines on mortality of critically ill adults: a cluster randomized controlled trial [J]. *Jama*, 2008, 300 (23): 2731.
- [25] Blaser AR, Starkopf J, Alhazzani W, *et al.* Early enteral nutrition in critically ill patients: ESICM clinical practice guidelines [J]. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 2017, 43 (3): 380-398.

- [26] Arabi YM, Tamim HM, Dhar GS, *et al.* Permissive underfeeding and intensive insulin therapy in critically ill patients: a randomized controlled trial[J]. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 2011, 93 (3): 569.
- [27] Rice TW, Mogan S, Hays MA, *et al.* Randomized trial of initial trophic versus full-energy enteral nutrition in mechanically ventilated patients with acute respiratory failure[J]. *Crit Care Med*, 2011, 39 (5): 967-974.
- [28] Arabi YM, Aldawood AS, Haddad SH, *et al.* Permissive Underfeeding or Standard Enteral Feeding in Critically Ill Adults[J]. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2015, 372 (25): 2398-2408.
- [29] Jie B, Jiang ZM, Nolan MT, *et al.* Impact of preoperative nutritional support on clinical outcome in abdominal surgical patients at nutritional risk[J]. *Nutrition*, 2012, 28 (10): 1022-7.
- [30] Chapman M, Fraser R, Vozzo R, *et al.* Antro-pyloro-duodenal motor responses to gastric and duodenal nutrient in critically ill patients[J]. *Gut*, 2005, 54 (10): : 1384–1390.
- [31] Kazamias P, Kotzampassi K, Koufogiannis D, *et al.* Influence of enteral nutrition-induced splanchnic hyperemia on the septic origin of splanchnic ischemia[J]. *World Journal of Surgery*, 1998, 22 (1): 6-11.
- [32] Purcell PN, Jr KD, Branson RD, *et al.* Continuous duodenal feeding restores gut blood flow and increases gut oxygen utilization during PEEP ventilation for lung injury *[J]. *American Journal of Surgery*, 1993, 165 (1): 188.

- [33] Schmidt H, Martindale R. The gastrointestinal tract in critical illness[J]. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care*, 2001, 4 (6): 547.
- [34] Montejo JC. Enteral nutrition-related gastrointestinal complications in critically ill patients: a multicenter study. The Nutritional and Metabolic Working Group of the Spanish Society of Intensive Care Medicine and Coronary Units[J]. *Crit Care Med*, 1999, 27 (8): 1447-53.
- [35] Reignier J, Darmon M, Sonnevile R, *et al.* Impact of early nutrition and feeding route on outcomes of mechanically ventilated patients with shock: a post hoc marginal structural model study[J]. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 2015, 41 (5): 875-886.
- [36] Mentec H, Dupont H, Bocchetti M, *et al.* Upper digestive intolerance during enteral nutrition in critically ill patients: frequency, risk factors, and complications[J]. *Crit Care Med*, 2001, 29 (10): 1955.
- [37] Klein CJ, Stanek GS, Rd WC. Overfeeding macronutrients to critically ill adults: metabolic complications[J]. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 1998, 98 (7): 795-806.
- [38] Weijs Peter JM, Gpm LW, Albertus B, *et al.* Early high protein intake is associated with low mortality and energy overfeeding with high mortality in non-septic mechanically ventilated critically ill patients[J]. *Critical care*, 2014, 18 (6): 701.

- [39] Hartl WH,Jauch KW. Metabolic self-destruction in critically ill patients: origins, mechanisms and therapeutic principles[J]. Nutrition, 2014, 30 (3): 261-7.
- [40] Ney L,Kuebler WM. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with traditional tidal volumes for acute lung injury[J]. New England Journal of Medicine, 2000, 343 (11): 813-4.
- [41] National Heart L,Wiedemann HP,Wheeler AP, *et al.* Comparison of two fluid-management strategies in acute lung injury[J]. New England Journal of Medicine, 2006, 354 (24): 2564.
- [42] Mehta RL,Pascual MT,Soroko S, *et al.* Diuretics, mortality, and nonrecovery of renal function in acute renal failure[J]. JAMA, 2002, 288 (20): 2547-2553.
- [43] Hébert PC,Wells G,Blajchman MA, *et al.* A Multicenter, Randomized, Controlled Clinical Trial of Transfusion Requirements in Critical Care[J]. New England Journal of Medicine, 1999, 340 (6): 409-417.
- [44] Schetz M,Casaer MP,Van dBG. Does artificial nutrition improve outcome of critical illness?[J]. Critical care, 2013, 17 (4): 1-3.
- [45] Dupont H,Pierrot M,Beloncle F, *et al.* Enteral versus parenteral early nutrition in ventilated adults with shock: a randomised, controlled, multicentre, open-label, parallel-group study (NUTRIREA-2)[J]. Lancet, 2017.

[46] Heidegger CP, Berger MM, Graf S, *et al.* Optimisation of energy provision with supplemental parenteral nutrition in critically ill patients: a randomised controlled clinical trial[J]. *Lancet*, 2013, 381 (9864): 385-93.